# RECEIVED 08-10-2016

# In The Wisconsin Court of Appeals District III

INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF MACHINISTS DISTRICT 10 AND ITS LOCAL LODGE 1061, UNITED STEELWORKERS DISTRICT 2, AND WISCONSIN STATE AFL-CIO, PLAINTIFFS-RESPONDENTS,

v.

STATE OF WISCONSIN, SCOTT WALKER, BRAD SCHIMEL, JAMES R. SCOTT, AND RODNEY G. PASCH, DEFENDANTS-APPELLANTS.

> On Appeal from the Dane County Circuit Court, The Honorable William C. Foust, Presiding, Case No. 2015CV628

#### OPENING BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANTS-APPELLANTS

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

MISHA TSEYTLIN Solicitor General

RYAN J. WALSH Chief Deputy Solicitor General Counsel of Record

#### INTRODUCTION

Almost seventy years ago, Congress passed the historic Taft-Hartley Act, explicitly guaranteeing the right of States to forbid the forced subsidization of labor unions. Since then, twenty-six States, including Wisconsin, have enacted "right-to-work" laws. Critics speculated that those laws would cripple organized labor. But, as it turns out, unions in right-to-work jurisdictions are thriving.

Still, some unions in this State, including the plaintiffs here ("Unions"), persist in the belief that right-to-work in Wisconsin ("Act 1") threatens them with imminent financial doom. The argument goes that Act 1 forbids unions from exacting fees from nonmember-employees at the same time as it imposes on unions a costly duty to treat those employees fairly in collective bargaining and grievance representation. Hence, Act 1 "takes" the Unions' "property" interest in their "services" without "just compensation," in violation of the Wisconsin Constitution.

This theory—that Act 1 "takes" union "services"—fails for multiple reasons. To begin, Act 1 does not force unions to offer *any* "services." In fact, it *forbids* a kind of "taking": the forced payment of dues to a labor union. The Unions' challenge would have been more properly directed at the duty of fair representation, an entirely separate legal obligation under which, *if* a union voluntarily assumes the valuable government-conferred privilege of exclusively representing all

employees in a bargaining unit, *then* it must refrain from discriminating against employees in the unit or treating them arbitrarily or in bad faith. But the Unions have not sued to free themselves of this obligation. This is not surprising: had the Unions challenged the duty, and prevailed, their prized exclusive-representation power would have fallen with it—the two are inseparable.

Regardless, a challenge to the duty of fair representation would have fared no better. The Unions have voluntarily assumed the duty in exchange for a special privilege—against the backdrop of a statutory scheme that permitted right-to-work's enactment in Wisconsin. And the combined economic impact of the duty and right-to-work on unions is far from severe. More fundamentally, the duty has not deprived the Unions of any specific interest in "private property," so it does not implicate the Takings Clause in the first place.

Every appellate court to have considered a similar takings theory has agreed: right-to-work laws like Act 1 are beyond constitutional reproach.

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Under the Wisconsin Constitution's Takings Clause, "[t]he property of no person shall be taken for public use without just compensation therefor." Wis. Const. Art. I, § 13. As relevant here, Act 1 imposes no obligations on labor organiza-

tions to provide any services to employees but instead provides that "[n]o person may require, as a condition of obtaining or continuing employment, an individual to . . . pay any dues, fees, or assessments or other charges or expenses of any kind or amount, or provide anything of value, to a labor organization" or "any 3rd party." See 2015 Wis. Act 1, § 5 codified at Wis. Stat. § 111.04(3)(a)(3) & (3)(a)(4). The Unions argue that Act 1 violates Wisconsin's Takings Clause by requiring them to provide "services" to nonmember-employees while taking away their right to negotiate contracts that would allow them to force those nonmember-employees to pay dues. Is Act 1, on its face and as applied, unconstitutional under Wisconsin's Takings Clause?

The circuit court answered, yes.

#### ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

In light of Act 1's statewide importance, this case merits oral argument and publication.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Federal And State Labor Law Tie The Government-Created Benefit Of Exclusive Representation To The Obligation Not To Treat Employees In An Arbitrary, Discriminatory, Or Bad-Faith Manner

Under both federal and state law, employees have the right to "choos[e]" "representatives" "for the purpose of collective bargaining." 29 U.S.C. § 157; Wis. Stat. § 111.04(1); see also Wis. Stat. §§ 111.02(11), 111.05(1). This "representative"

need not be a labor union, and can simply be "one or more individuals." Wis. Stat. § 111.02(10) & (11); see 29 U.S.C. § 152(4). A representative is selected by majority vote of members of the bargaining unit. Wis. Stat. § 111.05(1) & (3); 29 U.S.C. § 159(a) & (c). The chosen "representative" is the "exclusive representative[] of all of the employees in such [bargaining] unit for the purposes of collective bargaining." Wis. Stat. § 111.05(1); see 29 U.S.C. § 159(a). To qualify for this special position, a would-be representative must generally file or authorize a petition. See Wis. Admin. Code § ERC 3.02; 29 C.F.R. § 102.60. Standing for election as exclusive representative is voluntary. See Wis. Admin. Code §§ ERC 3.02, 3.03, 3.04; 29 C.F.R. § 102.61.

The position of exclusive representative comes with an extraordinary "set of powers and benefits." Sweeney v. Pence, 767 F.3d 654, 666 (7th Cir. 2014). "By its selection as bargaining representative, [the union] has become the agent of all the employees," including those who do not consent to or even benefit from representation, Wallace Corp. v. NLRB, 323 U.S. 248, 255 (1944), and the employer must bargain with it, e.g., Wis. Stat. § 111.06(d). Unlike an ordinary principal with authority over his agent, "an individual employee lacks direct control over a union's actions." Chauffeurs, Teamsters and Helpers, Local No. 391 v. Terry, 494 U.S. 558, 567 (1990). The employee also loses the "power to order his own relations with his employer." NLRB v. Allis-Chalmers Mfg. Co., 388 U.S. 175, 180 (1967). This "loss of individual rights for the greater

benefit of the group results in a tremendous increase in the power of the representative of the group—the union," American Communications Association, C.I.O. v. Douds, 339 U.S. 382, 401 (1950), making "[t]he complete satisfaction of all who are represented" impossible, Ford Motor Co. v. Huffman, 345 U.S. 330, 338 (1953). Akin to a "legislative body," the union has the power "to create and restrict the rights of those whom it represents." Steele v. Louisville & N.R. Co., 323 U.S. 192, 202 (1944). And, because labor unions are exempt from certain requirements of antitrust law, see Connell Construction Co. v. Plumbers & Steamfitters Local Union No. 100, 421 U.S. 616, 621–23 (1975), they enjoy the benefits of functioning as a government-sanctioned monopoly and so can use their powers in "cartel"-like fashion to raise the price of labor services. See Richard A. Posner, Some Economics of Labor Law, 51 U. Chi. L. Rev. 988, 990, 997, 1001–02 (1984); see also Trevor Burrus, Harris v. Quinn and the Extraordinary Privilege of Compulsory Unionization, 70 N.Y.U. Ann. Surv. Am. L. 283, These powers, taken together, are quite 285–95 (2015). valuable, enabling unions not only to force employers to the bargaining table but also to attract and retain dues-paying members.

The laws that grant these extraordinary benefits to the union also impose an "inseparable" obligation of fair treatment of all employees in the bargaining unit. *Steele*, 323 U.S. at 204. If the law had conferred the exclusive-representative authority "without any commensurate statutory duty" toward

all employees, permitting discrimination against nonmembers, then "constitutional questions [would] arise." *Id.* at 198. The representative is accordingly "subject to constitutional limitations on its power to deny, restrict, destroy, or discriminate against the rights of those for whom it [bargains]" and "is also under an affirmative constitutional duty equally to protect those rights." Id.; see Lewis v. Local Union No. 100 of Laborers' Int'l Union of N. Am., AFL-CIO, 750 F.2d 1368, 1375–76 (7th Cir. 1984); Mahnke v. WERC, 66 Wis. 2d 524, 530–31, 225 N.W.2d 617 (1975). The duty is designed to serve as a "check on the arbitrary exercise" of the exclusive-representation power. United Steelworkers of Am., AFL-CIO-CLC v. Rawson, 495 U.S. 362, 374 (1990). So it is the receipt of the exclusive-representation power, and not the collection of fees from all employees, that makes the fair-treatment obligation just and necessary. As the U.S. Supreme Court has explained, "[a] union's status as exclusive bargaining agent and the right to collect an agency fee from non-members are not inextricably linked." Harris v. Quinn, 134 S. Ct. 2618, 2640 (2014).

While this duty of fair treatment flows from the unique powers and benefits of the exclusive-representative position, carrying out this duty is "purposefully limited" and not burdensome. *Rawson*, 495 U.S. at 374. The union need not go out of its way to further the interests of particular employees, whether members or not. To the contrary, "the interests of the individual employee may be subordinated to the collective

interests of all employees in the bargaining unit." Alexander v. Gardner-Denver Co., 415 U.S. 36, 58 n.19 (1974). Thus, a union breaches this obligation "only when [its] conduct toward a member of the collective bargaining unit is arbitrary, discriminatory, or in bad faith." SEIU Local No. 150 v. WERC, 2010 WI App 126, ¶ 20, 329 Wis. 2d 447, 791 N.W.2d 662 (quoting Vaca v. Sipes, 386 U.S. 171, 190 (1967)). "[T]he union must not discriminate between members and nonmembers in negotiating and administering a collective-bargaining agreement [CBA] and representing the interests of employees in settling disputes and processing grievances. This means that the union cannot, for example, negotiate particularly high wage increases for its members in exchange for accepting no increases for others." Harris, 134 S. Ct. at 2636–37 (citations omitted).

The fair-treatment obligation also does not generally govern how much time or money the union must spend on representation. For example, federal and state laws require unions to negotiate concerning the "terms and conditions of employment of such employees, in a mutually genuine effort to reach an agreement with reference to the subject under negotiation." Wis. Stat. §§ 111.02(2), 111.06(1)(d); 29 U.S.C. § 158(a)(5), (b)(3) & (d). But apart from these "mandatory" bargaining topics, "each party is free to bargain or not to bargain, and to agree or not to agree." *NLRB v. Wooster Div. of Borg-Warner Corp.*, 356 U.S. 342, 349 (1958).

### II. Wisconsin Exercises Its Federally Recognized Right To Protect Workers From Being Forced To Support Labor Organizations As A Condition Of Their Employment

It is settled that "labor organizations have no constitutional entitlement to the fees of nonmember-employees." Madison Teachers, Inc. v. Walker, 2014 WI 99, ¶ 58, 358 Wis. 2d 1, 851 N.W.2d 337 (quoting Davenport v. Wash. Educ. Ass'n, 551 U.S. 177, 185 (2007)). It is only by an "act of legislative grace," Knox v. Service Employees International Union, Local 1000, 132 S.Ct. 2277, 2291 (2012) (citation omitted), that "an employer and a union [are allowed] to enter into an agreement requiring all employees" to pay dues to the union. Commc'ns Workers of Am. v. Beck, 487 U.S. 735, 745 (1988). But that "act of legislative grace" does *not* permit agreements forcing employees to join a union. It allows unions and employers to agree to provisions requiring only that the nonmember-employees pay the union for "activities . . . germane to collective bargaining, contract administration, and grievance adjustment." Beck, 487 U.S. at 745.

At the same time, the States are free to ban such arrangements. Congress has specifically provided that "[n]othing" in the National Labor Relations Act "shall be construed as authorizing the execution or application of agreements requiring membership in a labor organization as a condition of employment in any State or Territory in which such execution or application is prohibited by State or Territorial law." 29 U.S.C. § 164(b). This provision means that federal law does

"not deprive the States of any and all power" to enact rightto-work laws. Retail Clerks Int'l Ass'n, Local 1625, AFL-CIO v. Schermerhorn, 375 U.S. 96, 102 (1963); see also Sweeney, 767 F.3d at 663 (so holding); Int'l Union of the United Ass'n of Journeymen & Apprentices of the Plumbing & Pipefitting Indus. of the U.S. & Canada, Local Unions Nos. 141, 229, 681, & 706 v. NLRB, 675 F.2d 1257, 1260-62 (D.C. Cir. 1982) (same). Although federal law preempts the labor laws of States in many respects, see generally Local 926, International Union of Operating Engineers, AFL-CIO v. Jones, 460 U.S. 669, 676 (1983), Congress has specifically left undisturbed the power of States to tie the benefit of exclusive representation with the duty of nondiscrimination, without any opportunity for unions to persuade employers to agree to a provision in a CBA forcing nonmembers to pay fees to the union.1

Wisconsin exercised its right to adopt a right-to-work law on March 11, 2015, by enacting 2015 Wisconsin Act 1. As relevant here, Act 1 provides that "[n]o person may require, as a condition of obtaining or continuing employment, an individual to . . . [p]ay any dues, fees, or assessments or other charges or expenses of any kind or amount, or provide anything of value, to a labor organization" or "any 3rd party." See Act 1, § 5 codified at Wis. Stat. § 111.04(3)(a)(3) & (3)(a)(4).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Employees of the federal government also enjoy right-to-work protection. *See* 5 U.S.C. § 7102; 39 U.S.C. § 1209(c).

Violating Act 1 is an unfair labor practice and misdemeanor. Wis. Stat. §§ 111.06(2)(a), 947.20.<sup>2</sup> The law applies only prospectively. See Act 1, § 13. Importantly for this lawsuit, the Act does not impose or alter the preexisting legal duty of fair representation for all employees within the bargaining unit. In all, under Act 1, Wisconsin is now one of twenty-six States to have enacted a right-to-work law, many of which have been in existence for decades. See Nat'l Right to Work Legal Defense Foundation, Right to Work States, available at http://www.nrtw.org/rtws.htm (last visited Aug. 9, 2016).

# III. The Circuit Court Holds That Act 1 "Takes" Union Property

On March 10, 2015, the International Association of Machinists (District 10 and its Local Lodge 1061), the United Steel Workers District 2, and the Wisconsin State AFL-CIO, filed this suit challenging the constitutionality of Act 1, naming as Defendants the State of Wisconsin, Governor Scott Walker, Attorney General Brad D. Schimel, and WERC Commissioners James R. Scott and Rodney G. Pasch ("the State"). As described by the Unions, their theory is that Act 1 violates Article I, § 13 of the Wisconsin Constitution because "Act 1 unconstitutionally requires unions to represent non-members." R.25:8. Specifically, they claimed that this requirement amounts to a regulatory taking under the test of *Penn* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Charging a nonmember dues in a right-to-work jurisdiction is also an unfair labor practice under federal law. *Journeymen & Apprentices*, 675 F.2d at 1260–62.

Central Transportation Company v. City of New York, 438 U.S. 104 (1978). See R.25:15–19. The Unions sought an order both declaring that certain parts of Act 1 are unconstitutional on their face and as applied and enjoining the defendants from enforcing them. R.2:9–10.

In an opinion issued on April 8, 2016, the circuit court agreed with the Unions' theory, holding that Act 1 "takes" their services because "Plaintiffs will be obligated to [provide] . . . services for which they cannot legally request compensation." App. 9. The circuit court did not address the State's point that Act 1 does not require anyone to provide any services. See R.36:7. Instead, the circuit court moved to the asapplied test under *Penn Central*, finding that "[t]he duty of fair representation compels unions to provide at least some level of service to both union members and non-members," that the Unions had investment-backed expectations in retaining the right to force nonconsenting workers to fund their operations, and that Act 1 is an impermissible "economic adjustment." App. 9–11. Finally, the circuit court rejected the Seventh Circuit's conclusion in *Sweeney*, 767 F.3d at 666, that unions are justly compensated for any taking by the benefits of exclusive representation. App. 13–15.

A week later, the circuit court entered final judgment, declaring several sections of Act 1 facially void and enjoining the defendants from enforcing them. App. 20–21. The State moved the court to put its judgment on hold, but the court declined. App. 50.

#### IV. This Court Stays the Circuit Court's Judgment

The State filed a notice of appeal and a motion for stay in this Court. On May 5, 2016, this Court granted that motion and stayed the circuit court's judgment pending appeal. App. 53–57. This Court concluded that, "[g]iven a relative lack of harm shown to either party or the public interest, the presumption of constitutionality of this duly enacted statute and the preference under the law to maintain the status quo to avoid confusion . . . the State has established there is sufficient likelihood of success on appeal to warrant the grant of the stay." App. 57.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

Whether the State has committed a regulatory taking is "a question of law . . . review[ed] without deference to the lower courts."  $R.W.\ Docks\ \&\ Slips\ v.\ State$ , 2001 WI 73, ¶ 13, 244 Wis. 2d 497, 628 N.W.2d 781.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. The Unions argue that Act 1 "takes" their property because "Plaintiffs will be obligated to [provide] services for which they cannot legally request compensation." App. 9. But Act 1 does not oblige anyone to provide services. It simply forbids unions from entering into contracts requiring workers to pay unions that they have not joined. Although the Unions object that they must continue to fairly represent nonmember-employees, they have not challenged the law that imposes

that duty. If the pre—Act 1 duty were a "taking" (as the theory of this challenge maintains), then the duty itself must be held unconstitutional unless the State—not unwilling private citizens—provides what the court determines to be just compensation. See Madison Teachers, 358 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 58 ("Labor organizations have no constitutional entitlement to the fees of nonmember-employees." (citation omitted)). And anyway, striking down Act 1 will not remedy the Unions' claimed harms: without Act 1, employers, and not the State, will once again decide whether unions may collect the nonmember dues supposedly necessary to carrying out the fair-representation duty. This confirms that it is not the Act directly causing the alleged harm in the first place.

II. In any event, the duty of fair representation does not "take." The Unions voluntarily accept the fair-representation obligation in exchange for the valuable privilege of the exclusive-representation power. Like attorneys or hospitals required to provide discounted services to the poor, labor unions have "long been the source of public concern and the subject of government regulation." *Ruckelshaus v. Monsanto Co.*, 467 U.S. 986, 1007 (1984). They understood that those "regulation[s]"—especially those concerning the legality of forced-dues agreements—were, and remain, subject to frequent change. Since the Unions have entered the field of labor relations against that backdrop, their free assumption of the fair-representation duty "takes" nothing.

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