No. 16AP820

09-09-2016

RECEIVED

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS

OF WISCONSIN IN THE WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS **DISTRICT III**

INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF MACHINISTS DISTRICT 10 and its LOCAL LODGE 1061, UNITED STEELWORKERS **DISTRICT 2 and WISCONSIN STATE AFL-CIO**, **Plaintiffs-Respondents**,

v.

STATE OF WISCONSIN, SCOTT WALKER, BRAD SCHIMEL, JAMES R. SCOTT and RODNEY G. PASCH, **Defendants-Appellants.**

On Appeal from the Dane County Circuit Court, The Honorable William C. Foust, Presiding, Case No. 15CV628

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFFS-RESPONDENTS

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

C. <u>Act 1 Is Not Merely an Economic Regulation But a Taking of Property for</u> <u>Public Use Without Just Compensation.</u>

Appellants argue that being compelled to render services for free is merely an economic regulation unions voluntarily agree to suffer because they receive an important governmental power in return, the power of exclusive representation. Appellants here have confused the police power, which enables the legislature to regulate public harms, with the takings clause, which requires the State to compensate owners when their property is taken for the public good. Act 1 does the latter, not the former.

Appellants concede that a regulation can be so severe that it amounts to a taking of private property. If the purpose of such a regulation is to eliminate a public harm, then the power being exercised is *police power*, and any loss of property incurred by the owner is incidental and merely part of distributing the burdens of economic life. No compensation is required.

If the purpose of a law is to advance a public good, however, and private property must be taken for that purpose, then the governmental action is a *taking* which must be compensated, or it is otherwise unconstitutional. Appellants ignore this distinction entirely, and simply argue that the government never needs to compensate owners whose property is used for public or private benefit so long as the imposition is "not severe."⁹

The Wisconsin Supreme Court articulated the distinction between police power and the takings clause in *Just v. Marinette County*:

"[I]f the damage ... ought to be borne by the individual as a member of society for the good of the public safety, health, or general welfare, it may be said that the state takes property by eminent domain because it is useful to the public, and under the police power because it is harmful."... "From this results the difference between the power of eminent domain and the police power, that the former recognizes a right to compensation, while the latter on principle does not." Thus the necessity for monetary compensation for loss suffered to an owner by police power restriction arises when restrictions are placed on property in order to create a public benefit rather than to prevent a public harm.

56 Wis. 2d 7, 15-16 (1972) (citations omitted). A right to compensation for taking of property arises when the property is not inherently a nuisance but rather is being taken for the public good. The Court clarified this concept in *Wisconsin Public Service Corp. v. Marathon County*, 75 Wis. 2d 442 (1977), where it considered forced removal of wires from the property of a utility to facilitate expansion of an airport. Because the wires were not inherently harmful, it was not a police power case, but a taking of private property for the public good. The Court stated:

⁹ This position is jarring. Taken literally, it means the State can confiscate property simply for redistribution to other private owners, so long as only small amounts are taken. No case holds that such a scheme is consistent with the takings clause. Several cases explicitly say it is not. *See* Part III, *infra*.

This case also borders the fine line between taking and ... reasonable regulation under the police power. It could be argued that there was no taking, and because the utility retained its property interest there was only an exercise of the police power which...is uncompensable. ... [The Court concludes] a taking has occurred. Here the forced removal was because it was useful to the public in that it facilitated enlargement of the airport. The wires were not removed because they harmed the public. The removal is more like a taking than the exercise of the police power.

Id. at 448-449.

Collective bargaining and exclusive representation cannot be characterized as "public harms." Both are legislative creations for the public good, and indeed, *refusal* to bargain collectively is declared to be an unfair practice, that is, a public harm, in Wis. Stat. § 111.06(d). The requirement of nondiscrimination in representation likewise is not harm but a public good. The State's attempt to deny compensation to the Unions is therefore not an exercise of police power at all, but a taking. The taking is directly the result of the State's scheme to benefit the public by compelling unions to represent non-members without compensation.

Act 1 is not a mere economic regulation, nor is it analogous to a conditional privilege extended to one engaging in an inherently dangerous activity. Act 1 imposes a statutory obligation on unions to represent non-members for no other reason than that they are employed in a workplace where the majority has chosen a union. It then disables the union from attempting to negotiate an otherwise lawful fair share fee arrangement, so that the required services must be rendered for free, without compensation. It is thus a taking. The circuit court correctly held that the Act violates Art. I, § 13.

D. Act 1 Is an Unconstitutional Regulatory Taking Under Wisconsin Law.

The operation of Act 1 together with Wisconsin's requirement that unions fairly represent non-members constitutes a regulatory taking by the State. Wisconsin has adopted the *Penn Central* analysis for takings under Wisconsin law, which considers three factors—(1) the economic impact upon the property owner, (2) interference with substantial investments, and (3) the character of the governmental action. *Wisconsin Builders Ass'n v. Wis. DOT*, 2005 WI App 160 at ¶¶ 37-38 (2005).

The economic impact of Act 1 is severe. Wisconsin does not allow unions to represent only their members, so it imposes upon them the obligation to represent nonmembers or to cease to function as labor organizations at all. Wisconsin now deprives unions of all methods of charging non-members for the services that they receive from the unions. In other words, it requires unions either provide free services to nonmembers or go out of business entirely. The circuit court correctly perceived the economic impact of this condition is severe.

The magnitude of the taking is large. Immediately after Act 1 passed, the Unions began to incur monthly losses in membership and fees constituting a significant percentage of their revenues. For example, IAM District 10, which represents about 9000 employees, began losing \$8000 per year in just two bargaining units. These losses are large relative to the small size of the Unions.

Appellants trivialize these losses by relying entirely upon theoretical studies, which are contradicted by the actual record here, arguing that the impact of "right to work" laws is minimal. Extra-record "evidence" is "nothing but an 'unsubstantiated assertion...by counsel.' Assertions of fact that are not part of the record will not be considered on appeal." *In re City of Superior*, 164 Wis. 2d 718, 728 (Ct. App. 1991), *citing Jenkins v. Sabourin*, 104 Wis. 2d 309, 313, 311 N.W.2d 600, 603 (1981). *See also Banks v. Thomas*, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 13904 (S.D. Ill. Feb. 6, 2012)(scholarly articles are hearsay and inadmissible). None of these articles were even cited to the court below prior to the summary judgment ruling in favor of the Unions. These new arguments raised for the first time on appeal have been forfeited.¹⁰

The circuit court correctly found the Unions have their investment-backed expectations defeated by Act 1. (App. 10).¹¹ The only sources of revenue for unions are the fees they charge employees and the investment income from their accumulated reserves.¹² Unions determine what dues to charge members by financial planning for anticipated expenses, with the balance going to their treasuries deposited in their investments to act as reserves. The State, through Act 1, is decreasing membership and prohibiting charges to non-members; the cost to represent non-members will increase as their numbers rise. The Unions must either charge more to paying members (assuming

¹⁰ The specific argument sought to be preserved must have been made to the circuit court; merely raising a general issue is not sufficient. *E.g.*, *State v. Rogers*, 196 Wis. 2d 817, 827, 539 N.W.2d 897 (Ct. App. 1995)(explaining the forfeiture rule requires that, to preserve its arguments, a party must "make all of their arguments to the trial court").

¹¹ "Evaluation of the degree of interference with investment-backed expectations...is one factor that points toward the answer to the question whether the application of a particular regulation to particular property 'goes too far.'" *Palazzolo v. Rhode Island*, 533 U.S. 606, 634 (2001).

¹² Unions are not allowed to charge non-members extra for services that are provided to members in exchange for their dues. *See Columbus Area Local, Am. Postal Workers Union (U.S. Postal Serv.)*, 277 N.L.R.B. 541, 543 (1985)("[c]harging nonmembers the cost of providing a service which members get free (even though they pay dues)" is unlawful).

members will increase their own dues to benefit "free-riders") or deplete their investments. Unions necessarily deplete their accumulated reserves and diminish the investment expectations of its membership in those reserves to represent non-members who refuse to pay their fair share fees. Over time, their reserves will be wiped out, defeating their investment-backed expectations.

The State's action thus literally interferes with the investment-backed expectations of the Unions and their remaining members. The "right to realize investment earnings" is a property right under Article I, § 13, such that removal of any part of a common fund constitutes a taking. Wisconsin Med. Soc'y, Inc. v. Morgan, 2010 WI 94, ¶¶88-90 (Wis. 2010). "Any improper transfer infringes upon this right." *Id.* The Unions' right to enjoy increases in their net assets is a protected property interest, *id.* at ¶91, and that interest is taken by the State when it prohibits collection of fair share fees and obliges the Unions to transfer their property for the benefit of non-members without compensation when it represents them. See Wisconsin Retired Teachers Ass'n v. Employe Trust Funds Bd., 207 Wis. 2d 1, 19-20, 558 N.W.2d 83 (1997)(interest in receiving distributions from future surpluses was a protected property interest under Wisconsin Constitution). The Unions have a right to be compensated justly for the expenses on behalf of non-members the State requires unions to make. The State is not entitled to use the Unions' reserves as a public resource without just compensation.

Appellants respond in two ways. They assert that the Unions could be paper representatives only, seeking the status of exclusive representative but performing no actual services. They also assert that the Unions' losses are self-imposed because they seek to be exclusive representatives in the first place—that they could avoid the taking by choosing not to be "labor organizations" at all. Both arguments are fallacious.

It is simply not true that a union could, by curtailing its own activities to a bare minimum, avoid the unconstitutional taking in Act 1. The State requires unions to provide non-members the same representation it provides to members. Appellants' disingenuous argument is that the Unions can avoid the unconstitutional taking they suffer if they provide no services to anyone, even members willing to pay for them. Unions cannot avoid the unconstitutional taking imposed by Act 1 by doing nothing. The Attorney General himself has argued, and Wisconsin courts agree, that there is a minimum standard of representation below which a union violates its statutorily-imposed duty of representation. *E.g., SEIU Local 150 v. WERC, 2010* WI App 126 (Ct. App. 2010)(wherein the Attorney General argued that a union had in a particular case provided less than the minimum required standard of representation).

While there may be some variation in the amount of representation provided, there is a minimum standard, and it costs money to provide that minimum. Appellants' assertion that unions may refuse to represent non-members on the basis that it is too expensive to do so has specifically been rejected by the Wisconsin Supreme Court. *E.g., Mahnke v. Wisconsin Employment Relations Comm'n*, 66 Wis. 2d 524, 534 (1975)("a decision not to arbitrate based solely on economic considerations could be arbitrary and a breach of the union's duty of fair representation").

Any argument that unions could incur no costs to represent non-members is absurd. If each employee were responsible for bearing the cost of his own representation,

25

it could hardly be contended that a non-member's self-representation would cost nothing. If she were discharged or suspended, she would bear the cost of the arbitration proceeding including all the same costs unions bear today. These costs do not disappear because they are borne by the employees collectively in a union rather than by the individual.

Appellants mistakenly rely upon *Ruckelshaus v. Monsanto*, 467 U.S. 986 (1984). *Monsanto* held that a large chemical producer could be forced to share chemical data pertaining to pesticides with the EPA, and ultimately, competitors, on the grounds that the pesticide industry was historically subject to comprehensive regulation. The Court was also influenced by the police power doctrine because pesticides are poisonous, i.e., a regulated harm.

Monsanto is directly contrary to well-established Wisconsin takings jurisprudence. In *Noranda Exploration, Inc. v. Ostrom*, 113 Wis. 2d 612, 620 (1983), a statute required a private party to give away its geologic survey data to other private parties for free by publication. *Id.* at 629. The Wisconsin Supreme Court held that "[i]n such a case, the usual 'police power' 'balancing' analysis is not appropriate, since the government's acquisition of private property is in some ways more closely akin to a permanent physical occupation of property." *Id.* The Wisconsin Supreme Court found that a taking did occur. It invalidated the statute and enjoined its enforcement.

Even assuming *Monsanto* were not inconsistent with Wisconsin takings jurisprudence, it is clearly distinguishable on a ground cited by the circuit court. Unlike a giant chemical manufacturer, which could exit the pesticide market and still remain profitable in one of its many, other fields of endeavor, Wisconsin law allows labor unions in Wisconsin to have exactly one business model—exclusive representative status in majority units. Unions cannot exit the "representation" market without ceasing to exist. The regulation is therefore severe, and has the character of a physical occupation by the State. In *Monsanto* by contrast, the requirement to disclose some particular pesticide data (but not all of the trade secrets for the manufacturer's many lines of business) was a mere economic regulation.¹³

Appellants misstate the ruling in *Monsanto*. It did not hold that government may take private data collections merely because an industry is regulated. The statute regulating pesticides, FIFRA, was amended several times. The Court found that takings had occurred under some iterations of the statute; later, after amendment, the statute provided just compensation. This compensation was not, as Appellants imply, the privilege of selling dangerous pesticides, but actual money. FIFRA provided that Monsanto's data could not be used without its consent for 10 years, and for 15 years thereafter, it received monetary compensation. *4*67 U.S. at 994-995. Monsanto could also sue under the Tucker Act for further compensation. *Id.* at 1019.

Here, by contrast, the State requires the Unions to give away their sole service, representation, for the benefit of people who will not pay for it, with no compensation at all. This taking of union property is complete and irreversible: The costs of prosecution for a non-member's grievance arbitration, once spent, are gone and can never be

¹³ *Monsanto* was not cited to the circuit court until the stay litigation, after summary judgment was decided. The argument was forfeited by not being raised below. *Rogers, supra*.

retrieved. This use of union property is thus closely akin to an "occupation" of that property by the State, as the Court found in *Noranda, supra*.

State ex rel. Dressler v. Circuit Court for Racine County, 163 Wis. 2d 622 (Ct. App. 1991) is inapposite. In *Dressler*, a private attorney took a \$50,000 mortgage on a defendant's home to secure his fee, and when there was a deficiency from the sale, sought to be appointed by the court with compensation for the difference between his fee and the sale proceeds. There was nothing involuntary about the service by the attorney, and the deficiency resulted from the client's inability to pay, not from any act of the State of Wisconsin.¹⁴

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